Ethical considerations for biomarkers of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder and other neurodevelopmental disorders

Alexandre A. Lussier^{a,b,c,*} and Joanne Weinberg^d

^aPsychiatric and Neurodevelopmental Genetics Unit, Center for Genomic Medicine, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, United States

^bDepartment of Psychiatry, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD)	3
	2.1 Phenotypic manifestations and diagnosis	3
	2.2 Genetic and environmental risk factors	6
	2.3 Overlaps between FASD and other neurodevelopmental disorders	7
3.	Biomarkers of FASD	9
	3.1 What are biomarkers?	10
	3.2 Biomarkers of alcohol exposure and metabolism	11
	3.3 Biomarkers of neurodevelopmental outcome	13
4.	Stigmatization in FASD	19
	4.1 FASD and stigma	20
	4.2 Reducing stigma in FASD	23
5.	Ethical ramifications of biomarker use	26
	5.1 Biomarkers of alcohol use or exposure	26
	5.2 Biomarkers of child outcomes	27
	5.3 Missed or incorrect diagnoses	27
	5.4 Clinical versus research-based biomarkers	28
6.	Conclusions and next steps	29
Re	References	

^cStanley Center for Psychiatric Research, The Broad Institute of Harvard and MIT, Cambridge, MA, United States

^dDepartment of Cellular and Physiological Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, Life Sciences Institute, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

^{*}Corresponding author: e-mail address: alussier@mgh.harvard.edu

1. Introduction

The development and implementation of biomarkers that are both sensitive and specific to different disorders is a long-standing goal of health research. Indeed, many success stories in human health are the result of these efforts; for instance, phenylketonuria (PKU), an inherited disorder that leads to intellectual disability and other serious health problems when untreated, is now identified immediately at birth thanks to the Guthrie test. By identifying affected children at birth, clinicians are now positioned to provide treatments that can prevent the deleterious effects of PKU. Other success stories include biomarkers and diagnostic tests for cancer, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, etc., which are crucial to effective early treatments for these disorders at the individual and population level. By contrast, the vast majority of neurodevelopmental disorders do not yet have effective biomarkers. Neurodevelopmental disorders can present through a wide range of symptoms and phenotypes, many of which may overlap to some extent with each other and can be associated with considerable stigma and shame related to their diagnosis. The similarities that can occur among neurodevelopmental disorders further highlight the difficulties in differentiating among disorders in both clinical and research settings, which can have profound impacts on diagnosis and subsequent treatment. In addition to overlapping symptoms, many of these disorders can be co-occurring, leading to additional variance and difficulties in the management of symptoms and treatments. As such, it is crucial for clinicians and researchers alike to differentiate among these disorders and provide accurate diagnoses or characterizations of the different neurodevelopmental disorders. In the present chapter, we use fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD) as an exemplar to demonstrate the importance of biomarkers for neurodevelopmental disorders and emphasize the ethical considerations surrounding their application in research and clinical settings.

FASD refers to the broad range of effects that can occur in an individual with prenatal alcohol exposure, which include physical, behavioral, neuro-developmental, and/or learning disabilities that can last a lifetime (Bertrand, Floyd, & Weber, 2005). A variety of diagnostic guidelines have been developed over the years to assist clinicians in recognizing and diagnosing children exposed to alcohol in utero (Benz, Rasmussen, & Andrew, 2009). While many guidelines require the presence of physical characteristics, including facial dysmorphology and other birth defects that can result from prenatal

exposure to alcohol, for at least some diagnoses within the spectrum, data from clinical studies suggest that only about 10% of individuals exposed to alcohol in utero have significant facial or other physical features, making FASD an invisible disability for the majority of individuals (Riley, Clarren, Weinberg, & Jonsson, 2011). In addition, obtaining an accurate maternal prenatal drinking history has made diagnosis a challenge, particularly for those with no physical characteristics, resulting in many individuals remaining undiagnosed. Inclusion of FASD in the most recent *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual*, 5th edition (DSM-5) as Neurobehavioral Disorder associated with Prenatal Alcohol Exposure (ND-PAE) may ultimately begin to address these issues, although FASD is currently listed only under Conditions for Further Study (Kable et al., 2016).

In this chapter, we begin by providing a description of FASD and its overlaps with other neurodevelopmental disorders, before moving on to a discussion of biomarkers, why they are needed, and a consideration of neuroethical issues surrounding the use of biomarkers in neurodevelopmental disorders in general and FASD in particular. As preface to our discussion of FASD, we present the voices of some adults living with FASD (Box 1). These words speak to the individuals' experiences, their insights, issues of stigma and shame, the value of having a diagnosis, and who they are as people. These words highlight the point that despite the range of adverse effects of prenatal alcohol exposure, the majority of adults with FASD can live successful and productive lives if they have a diagnosis and get the support and services they need.



2. Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD)

2.1 Phenotypic manifestations and diagnosis

Prenatal alcohol exposure can result in broad spectrum of adverse developmental consequences falling under the umbrella of FASD. Despite the recognition of fetal alcohol syndrome (FAS) over four decades ago, prenatal alcohol exposure remains a leading cause of developmental disabilities in North America and worldwide. FAS, which can occur with chronic exposure to high doses of alcohol, represents the most severe phenotypic manifestation of FASD (Jones & Smith, 1973; Jones, Smith, Ulleland, & Streissguth, 1973). The diagnostic criteria for FAS include pre- and postnatal growth restriction, a characteristic set of facial dysmorphologies, and central nervous system alterations, including neurological abnormalities,

BOX 1 Stories of adults with FASD.

From CJ Lutke, "Words of experience to teens and adults with FASD," NOFASD Australia (https://www.nofasd.org.au)

"So you know a little about me, my name is CJ and I am 35 years old. I was diagnosed with fetal alcohol syndrome when I was a baby... my words are for all you teens and adults with FASD who have felt like somehow you don't belong, don't fit in, are not good enough, and are ashamed of having FASD because that is how you have been made to feel. Only, I am going to talk about how much we are worth. FASD does NOT define you—it is only ONE piece of who you are... You are NOT a FASD person—you are a person who has FASD. Person first. FASD second. And, I should add, everyone I know with FASD—and I know lots—no matter what 'bad' things they have done, is a good person who tries their very best, every day to fit in and do the best they can. The problems we all have are NOT just about us. They are about the rest of the world that doesn't understand us, doesn't believe us, and so doesn't help us the way we need help... I have had to learn that, because there are things I cannot do, it does NOT mean I am dumb or stupid or lazy or making excuses. It just means I am like every other person in the world. Some things I can do, some things I can only do with help, and some things I cannot do. And if you cannot do something—well, that is okay too. I cannot work full time, the best I can do is part time and only some of the time—or my life falls totally apart. So I do the best I can do and if others don't know it is my best, well, I have finally learned that is their problem, not mine."

Taylor's Story (CDC: FASDs: My Story)

Taylor was not diagnosed until 8th grade. He wrote about his experiences at age 23: "We were like so many other families out there. We were looking for guidance and trying to find counselors, practitioners. Through NOFAS, I was able to have a voice and speak out. By talking with others who are just at the beginning of their FASD journey, we are also healing and helping ourselves—by reminding us that we are not alone... Now, NOFAS has empowered me. Several times a year they give me the podium to speak and tell my story. Getting up in front of a crowd to speak about FASD takes away the control that this disability had over me. I didn't know why I did a lot of things I used to do. But with this, I do know why I am doing it. For the past year, I have been leading a teen group with the help of Kathy [Mitchell, Vice President, FASD United (formerly NOFAS)] and my dad. We mostly talk about what it's like to be us, our day-to-day life, things we run into. We get into how bad it feels to be misunderstood, how we just wish people would understand us. But at the end of the day, no matter how bad, we are all smiles because we've got together and met people just like us."

Frances' Story (CDC: FASDs: My Story)

"I do a lot of writing to express my feelings. It helps me. I also watch people very carefully to learn how to do certain things. I tend to read everything twice to comprehend what I am reading. For my anxiety, I avoid loud and crowded places. I always surround myself with people that I feel comfortable and safe

BOX 1 Stories of adults with FASD.—cont'd

with... I want people to know that there is hope. I keep telling myself, if I can survive, others can too. FASD comes with a lot of shame and challenges. I always tell people to stop and think before taking that drink. Pregnant women should remember that they are not drinking alone."

For more voices, see also: youtube.com: Individuals with an FASD, FASD United (formerly NOFAS); Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC): FASDs: My Story (https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/fasd/stories).

Text taken from postings on the CDC and NOFASD Australia websites with permission.

developmental delays, and intellectual impairment (Stratton, Howe, & Battaglia, 1996). Exposure to alcohol at levels that do not produce full FAS can result in either partial FAS (pFAS), where only some of the diagnostic features occur, or in numerous alcohol-related effects that can be primarily physical (alcohol-related birth defects, ARBD) or primarily neurobehavioral (alcohol-related neurodevelopmental disorder, ARND), although ARBD and ARND are not mutually exclusive (Stratton et al., 1996). Neurobehavioral and neurodevelopmental deficits are consistently observed across the spectrum of FASD. As defined in the DSM-5 as ND-PAE, these deficits include neurocognitive impairment (cognitive function, learning and memory, executive function), impairment in self-regulation (attention, impulsivity, behavioral regulation, stress responsiveness, mood/affect, sleep abnormalities), and deficits in adaptive function (communication, social behavior, activities of daily living) (Astley et al., 2009; Carter et al., 2016; Doyle & Mattson, 2015; Lynch, Kable, & Coles, 2015; Panczakiewicz et al., 2016; Streissguth & O'Malley, 2000). Moreover, recent data suggest adverse outcomes in domains including metabolic changes, physiological dysfunction (e.g., endocrine, immune, etc.), and vulnerability to physical and mental diseases and disorders (Bodnar et al., 2020, 2018; Burd et al., 2007; Popova et al., 2017). Importantly, the adverse neurodevelopmental outcomes of children with FASD persist into adulthood, but if a diagnosis was not made in childhood, these outcomes may go unrecognized or undiagnosed (Coles et al., 2023; Famy, Streissguth, & Unis, 1998; Lemoine, Harousseau, Borteyru, & Menuet, 2003; Moore & Riley, 2015; Spohr & Steinhausen, 2008; Streissguth et al., 2004; Weyrauch, Schwartz, Hart, Klug, & Burd, 2017).

Given the broad umbrella of FASD, diagnoses are typically a multistep and complex process involving a multidisciplinary clinical team that can include developmental or behavioral pediatricians, clinical geneticists/dysmorphologists, and psychologists or neuropsychologists. As prenatal alcohol exposure is a required criterion in the absence of facial dysmophologies, diagnostic teams also require a skilled interviewer to assess maternal alcohol use. Unfortunately, however, even with the most skilled interviewer, an accurate maternal history is often unattainable. Finally, others involved in the assessment and support of individuals with FASD can include psychiatrists, speech pathologists, occupational therapists, physical therapists, special educators, audiologists, and/or ophthalmologists (Coles et al., 2023).

2.2 Genetic and environmental risk factors

The degree to which alcohol affects development depends on a variety of factors such as timing, pattern, and level of alcohol exposure, overall maternal health and nutrition, and genetic background, which may influence the disparity between maternal drinking rates and the prevalence of FASD (Pollard, 2007). Genetic risk may also play a role in susceptibility to FASD, as evidenced by studies in twins that have shown 100% diagnostic concordance in monozygotic twins (i.e., identical genetic code), but only 64% concordance in dizygotic twins (i.e., only 50% shared genetic code). However, the exact genes underlying susceptibility or resilience are unclear, as studies in human populations remain underpowered and confounded by risk genes for alcohol consumption (e.g., alcohol dehydrogenase genes). That said, this remains an active area of investigation using in vivo model systems, with identification of genes that could potentially modulate alcohol's effects on facial dysmorphologies, growth, and neurodevelopmental deficits (Kaminen-Ahola, 2020; Lussier, Petrelli, Hicks, & Weinberg, 2023; Sambo & Goldman, 2023). Importantly, environmental risk and resilience factors are equally critical to the impact of alcohol on development. These include prenatal factors such as maternal health, socioeconomic status, substance use, trauma, abuse, etc., and postnatal factors such as early diagnosis, adversities such as abuse or neglect, stability of the environment, nutrition, health care, environmental toxins or contaminants, and educational and social support (Flannigan et al., 2021). All of these factors can act in concert with prenatal alcohol exposure to influence physical, behavioral, and neurodevelopmental outcomes.

2.3 Overlaps between FASD and other neurodevelopmental disorders

The profile of individuals with FASD often includes other functional or phenomenologically described neurodevelopmental disorders, with the primary etiology being linked to a diagnosis of FASD and prenatal alcohol exposure. Major neurodevelopmental disorders that have phenotypic overlaps with FASD include intellectual disability (ID), autism spectrum disorder (ASD), and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Due to overlaps among these disorders and the potential underreporting of prenatal alcohol exposure, FASD may sometimes be diagnosed as another neurodevelopmental disorder such as ADHD or ID alone, leading to poorer access to FASD-specific umbrella services.

2.3.1 Intellectual disability (ID)

ID is estimated to impact approximately 1% of children and manifests through a range of problems in mental abilities (Maulik, Mascarenhas, Mathers, Dua, & Saxena, 2011). Generally, ID presents through deficits in two main categories of mental ability: (1) intellectual functioning (learning, problem solving, judgment, etc.) and (2) adaptive behavior (social, conceptual, and practical skills such as communication, independence, etc.) (Patel, Apple, Kanungo, & Akkal, 2018; Patel, Cabral, Ho, & Merrick, 2020). Of particular relevance to the present chapter, the most common environmental source of ID is prenatal alcohol exposure, with ID frequently manifesting in children with FASD (Greenspan, Brown, & Edwards, 2015; Greenspan & Novick Brown, 2022). For a more thorough discussion of the ethical implications of ID versus FASD diagnoses from a legal and clinical perspective, please refer to Greenspan and Novick Brown (2022).

2.3.2 Autism spectrum disorder (ASD)

ASD is estimated to impact approximately 2% of children (1 in 50), and typically manifests through a spectrum of phenotypes relating to deficits in social communication, as well as challenges with restricted interests and repetitive behaviors (Hyman et al., 2020). ASD and FASD share deficits in social and communicative functioning (Stevens, Nash, Koren, & Rovet, 2013), socially inappropriate behaviors and difficulty with peers (Bishop, Gahagan, & Lord, 2007), as well as hyperactivity, impulsivity, emotional lability, and difficulty changing strategies or inflexibility (Harris, MacKay, & Osborn, 1995). Several lines of evidence also suggest that FASD and ASD

may be co-occurring (Harris et al., 1995; Lange, Rehm, Anagnostou, & Popova, 2018; Nanson, 1992; Popova, Lange, Shield, et al., 2017), indicating that behavioral alterations characteristic of ASD may also be present in children diagnosed with FASD.

2.3.3 Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD)

ADHD is one of the most common neurodevelopmental disorders, affecting an estimated 8.4% of children and 2.5% of adults (Danielson et al., 2018; Simon, Czobor, Bálint, Mészáros, & Bitter, 2009). Characterized by symptoms of inattention, hyperactivity, and impulsivity, ADHD can have profound deleterious impacts on interpersonal relationships and daily functioning, and can lead to poorer self-worth and mental health (Austerman, 2015). Several disorders show similar symptoms or co-occur with ADHD, including learning disorders, mood disorders, and ASD (Hours, Recasens, & Baleyte, 2022). Perhaps most importantly, children and adolescents with FASD commonly have deficits in attention that are reminiscent of those observed in ADHD, which can lead to missed or incorrect diagnoses when information about prenatal alcohol exposure is not available (Burd, 2016; Rasmussen et al., 2010).

2.3.4 Implications

Beyond potential issues of resource access, children with FASD may not adequately respond to treatments or drugs used to treat other neurodevelopmental disorders. For instance, while children and adolescents with FASD commonly have deficits in attention that may appear similar to those observed in ADHD (Greenspan & Novick Brown, 2022), the drugs commonly used to treat ADHD may not perform as expected in individuals with FASD. Indeed, children with FASD often respond differently from those without FASD to methylphenidate (e.g., Ritalin) and dexamphetamine (e.g., Adderall), where those drugs do not show the expected paradoxical effects (Burd, 2016; Peadon & Elliott, 2010). Rather, evidence from animal models suggests that prenatal alcohol exposure increases sensitivity to amphetamines, which are the basis for ADHD medications such as Adderall (Uban et al., 2015). These findings point to the critical importance of distinguishing between FASD and other potential neurodevelopmental disorders to provide appropriate care and treatment to children and adolescents, thus ensuring that they develop appropriately and thrive in their everyday lives.

3. Biomarkers of FASD

It is difficult to estimate the true prevalence of the full spectrum of FASD in the population (Roozen et al., 2016). However, recent studies suggest that FASD is more prevalent than previously recognized. CDC studies from 2002 suggested that FAS occurs in approximately 1 infant per 1000 live births in certain parts of the United States (CDC, 2002). Further in-person assessments of school-aged children in several communities (May et al., 2014, 2009) reported higher estimates (up to 6–9 per 1000 children) of FAS. More recently, using active case-ascertainment methods, data suggest that the full spectrum of FASD may be as high as 1-5% of the population (May et al., 2018), which is almost twice the prevalence of autism spectrum disorder (~2%) and many times the prevalence of other neurodevelopmental disorders, including cerebral palsy and Down Syndrome. Studies using similar methods in the United States, Canada, Italy, Poland, and Croatia similarly reported an FASD prevalence as high as 5% in the general population (May et al., 2014, 2011, 2009, 2004, 2021, 2015; Okulicz-Kozaryn, Borkowska, & Brzózka, 2017; Petković & Barišić, 2013; Popova et al., 2019; Popova, Lange, Probst, Gmel, & Rehm, 2018). While this estimated prevalence may not be generalizable to all communities, the data certainly suggest a greater prevalence of FASD than previously recognized. Moreover, an estimated half of women under 30 years of age in the United States have unplanned pregnancies (May et al., 2004), and thus may continue to consume alcohol during the first trimester while pregnancy is unrecognized. As well, it is estimated that 10-15% of women in Canada and the United States continue to drink throughout pregnancy, with approximately 3% continuing to binge drink, which is particularly deleterious to fetal development (Bonthius & West, 1990; Popova, Lange, Probst, Gmel, & Rehm, 2017).

For children with FAS, their characteristic facial dysmorphology along with other physical, cognitive, and behavioral/adaptive issues, make diagnosis possible, particularly if seen by trained clinicians. By contrast, a large majority of children on the FASD spectrum may show no physical evidence of alcohol exposure, and without a confirmed maternal history for prenatal alcohol exposure, this etiologic diagnosis may be missed (Chasnoff, Wells, & King, 2015). Indeed, in the study noted above (May et al., 2018), only 2 of 222 children had been diagnosed previously. This gap reinforces the urgent need to develop methods for identifying individuals exposed to alcohol in utero, as early intervention is known to reduce adverse consequences.

3.1 What are biomarkers?

This brings us to the issue of biomarkers (i.e., biological markers). The Biomarkers Definitions Working Group (2001), convened by the NIH Director's Initiative on Biomarkers and Surrogate Endpoints, states that a biomarker is "a characteristic that can be objectively measured and evaluated as an indicator of normal biological processes, pathogenic processes or pharmacological responses to a therapeutic intervention" (p. 91). In their monograph on biomarkers in environment risk assessment, the WHO (World Health Organization and International Programme on Chemical Safety, 1993) states that the term biomarker is "used in a broad sense to include almost any measurement reflecting an interaction between a biological system and a potential hazard, which may be chemical, physical, or biological. The measured response may be functional and physiological, biochemical at the cellular level, or a molecular interaction. In the assessment of risk, biomarkers may be used in hazard identification, exposure assessment and to associate a response with the probability of a disease outcome" (p. 11). Another definition was developed by the National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences (2023), which defines a biomarker as "an objective measure that captures what is happening in a cell or an organism at a given moment." They further state that "biomarkers play an important role in illuminating relationships among environmental exposures, human biology, and disease" (p. 1). Importantly, biomarkers must be highly sensitive and specific, meaning they must correctly detect individuals who have the disorder (sensitivity) and reject healthy individuals without the disorder (specificity) (Ray, Manach, Riou, Houle, & Warner, 2010).

The need for sensitive, specific, and reliable biomarkers of prenatal alcohol exposure has long been recognized in the FASD field (Allen, Sillanaukee, Strid, & Litten, 2003; Bager, Christensen, Husby, & Bjerregaard, 2017; Bakhireva & Savage, 2011; Bearer, Stoler, Cook, & Carpenter, 2004). Biomarkers could allow for early identification of an infant or child who has been exposed to alcohol but lacks characteristic facial or other physical features that would facilitate diagnosis, thus allowing for early interventions that may attenuate alcohol's adverse effects (Bearer et al., 2004). Biomarkers could also aid in identifying children who present with cognitive, behavioral, or adaptive problems as they grow but who had not been identified previously, providing support for more targeted interventions. Finally, biomarkers could be useful in allowing for education

and support to help women reduce or stop using alcohol during pregnancy, as well as to mitigate adverse effects in subsequent pregnancies (Bakhireva & Savage, 2011; Bearer et al., 2004).

Based on these goals, biomarkers of FASD generally fall into two categories: (1) those that detect the presence of alcohol or prenatal alcohol exposure, and (2) those can predict or are associated with child neurodevelopmental outcomes. To date, the majority of research and clinical applications have focused on the first category, though the clinical implementation of most biomarkers remains challenging and extremely limited. While in early stages, research aimed at developing novel biomarkers to predict neurodevelopmental outcomes have begun to highlight some promising approaches.

3.2 Biomarkers of alcohol exposure and metabolism

Maternal self-report is the oldest and most widely used method of assessing prenatal alcohol exposure, and several instruments have been shown to be sensitive in assessing a history of alcohol intake (Russell et al., 1996), including the TWEAK (Russell, 1994), the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT), the Michigan Alcohol Screening Test, and the CAGE (Ewing, 1984). However, factors such as lack of recall for amount and frequency of intake, and/or reluctance to report truthfully due to the stigma surrounding alcohol and pregnancy can reduce their usefulness. The use of biomarkers measured from biological samples, either alone or in combination with maternal self-report, would provide a more objective approach. A number of biomarkers involving direct or indirect products of ethanol metabolism measured in biological specimens from both the mother and infant (e.g., urine, blood, meconium) have been utilized in research and clinical settings.

While ethanol and its major metabolite acetaldehyde would be the most direct indicators of alcohol exposure, their short half-lives reduce their usefulness. However, other biomarkers of alcohol exposure have been developed; these can be measured from blood to provide an indication of alcohol consumption levels in adults, and include γ -glutamyl transferase (GGT), mean erythrocyte macrocytic volume (also mean corpuscular volume) (MCV), and carbohydrate deficient transferrin (CDT) (Bager et al., 2017; Bakhireva & Savage, 2011). While found throughout the body, GGT is primarily a liver enzyme that has been used to assess liver dysfunction

or bile duct conditions that can be caused by alcohol (Allen et al., 2003). This marker is now also commonly used to assess risk of coronary heart disease, type 2 diabetes and stroke (Koenig & Seneff, 2015). Elevated MCV can result from adverse effects of alcohol on erythroblast development. Alone, MCV is considered a low sensitivity measure, but may be useful when assessed together with other markers (Allen et al., 2003; Bakhireva & Savage, 2011). CDT is a modified form of the iron transport protein transferrin, and is considered one of the most specific biomarkers of heavy alcohol consumption (Fagan et al., 2014). CDT levels remain elevated for ~2–3 weeks following moderate alcohol consumption and normalize within 2-4 weeks of abstinence (Allen et al., 2003). However, CDT has relatively low sensitivity, particularly in women or individuals with an elevated BMI (Allen et al., 2003; Fagan et al., 2014), and thus, should be used cautiously. With these considerations, it has been suggested that panels of two or more of these biomarkers might be needed to improve their utility (Allen et al., 2003; Bearer et al., 2004).

Substantial progress has also been made in identifying markers that focus on products of alcohol metabolism. For example, fatty acid ethyl esters (FAEEs) are a large group nonoxidative alcohol metabolites (esterification products of fatty acids and ethanol) (Bakhireva & Savage, 2011). They begin to form early in pregnancy and accumulate in the fetal gut from \sim the 20th week of gestation until birth, thus reflecting alcohol exposure in the second half of pregnancy (Bager et al., 2017; Bakhireva & Savage, 2011). Meconium FAEEs appear to identify both moderate and binge drinking patterns and may serve as a biomarker of developmental delays in children (Bakhireva et al., 2014; Bakhireva & Savage, 2011). The concentration of FAEEs has been shown to correlate with blood alcohol concentrations, and FAEEs may, in part, mediate ethanol-induced organ damage (Doyle et al., 1994). However, the specificity of meconium FAEE is inconsistent between different cohorts and FAEEs, potentially due to the small number of cases in studies to date (Bakhireva et al., 2014; Bearer et al., 2003, 1999, 2005; Kwak, Han, Choi, Ahn, Kwak, et al., 2014; Kwak, Han, Choi, Ahn, Ryu, et al., 2014; Ostrea et al., 2006). By contrast, FAEEs are also deposited in hair where they are stable, providing a long diagnostic time window for analysis and relatively high accuracy of prior alcohol exposure (Pragst & Yegles, 2008).

Ethyl glucuronide (EtG) and ethyl sulfate (EtS) are alcohol metabolites produced in the liver that can be measured in peripheral samples. EtG appears to be a sensitive biomarker of alcohol consumption, detectable in

blood for 4–8 h and in urine for up to 5 days after a drinking episode (Bager et al., 2017; Bakhireva & Savage, 2011). Sensitive methods for detecting EtG in hair have also been developed, providing another approach for assessing alcohol exposure. EtS is similarly detectable in serum for 4–8 h, and may be detectable in urine for up to 30 h after alcohol consumption (Bager et al., 2017). Finally, phosphatidyl-ethanol (PEth), a phospholipid formed in the presence of alcohol, is detectable in blood up to 6 weeks after sustained alcohol consumption (Allen et al., 2003). However, the validity of PEth as a biomarker has not been well established in pregnant women (Bakhireva & Savage, 2011). Importantly, for assessment of *in utero* exposure to alcohol, because these markers are found in a restricted timeframe shortly after birth, their use in later-life diagnoses is limited (Cabarcos, Álvarez, Tabernero, & Bermejo, 2015).

3.3 Biomarkers of neurodevelopmental outcome

The issues raised above point to the need for sensitive biomarkers that are not linked temporally to alcohol intake. To be useful, such biomarkers should be measurable in women and associated with child outcomes, and/or measurable in children and associated with neurodevelopmental, neurobehavioral, and other critical outcomes, particularly in the absence of facial dysmorphology or other physical characteristics of prenatal alcohol exposure. To this end, studies have begun to investigate neurobehavioral, neurobiological, physiological, imaging, genetic/epigenetic and other molecular measures to identify profiles or signatures specific to FASD. Here, we briefly review some of these new emerging research areas. However, we must keep in mind that numerous factors can affect the outcome in any domain, including dose, timing and pattern of alcohol exposure, genetics, and a myriad of other prenatal or postnatal environmental factors that all influence or modulate the effects of prenatal alcohol exposure.

3.3.1 Neuroimmune profile

Substantial evidence indicates that prenatal alcohol exposure results in alterations in immune/neuroimmune responsiveness and function by reprogramming immune activity in both the central nervous system (CNS) and periphery (Noor & Milligan, 2018). Neuroimmune activation in the developing brain results in activation of microglia, production of proinflammatory molecules, and alteration in gene expression (Drew & Kane, 2014). Such changes can alter normal neurogenesis, differentiation, migration, and survival of neurons and glia, thus disrupting normal brain

development, with long-term consequences, including changes in cognition, behavior, and health (Noor & Milligan, 2018). However, research to identify unique or specific immune signatures of prenatal alcohol exposure is relatively recent. Much of this work has utilized animal (primarily rodent) models, with important findings that set the stage for more recent exploration of immune/neuroimmune biomarkers of FASD in clinical populations.

Studies utilizing animal models have revealed a specific immune signature in offspring prenatally exposed to alcohol. For example, female rats exposed to moderate alcohol levels in utero exhibited unique cytokine profiles compared to controls during infancy, when microglia are more actively producing cytokines (Bodnar, Hill, & Weinberg, 2016). This suggests the possibility that microglia might be more activated following alcohol exposure, with long-lasting impacts on brain structure and function. These findings have significant clinical implications, as a considerable proportion of individuals diagnosed with FASD do not display physical indicators of alcohol exposure yet in many cases may remain as vulnerable to impaired CNS function as those diagnosed with FAS (Noor & Milligan, 2018). Indeed, the translational potential of this animal model research was realized in subsequent studies with cohorts of women and children. For example, evaluation of networks of interacting cytokines in people during pregnancy found distinct networks of activated or inhibited cytokines that were associated with both maternal alcohol consumption and child neurodevelopmental outcome (neurodevelopmental delay versus typical neurodevelopment) (Bodnar et al., 2018). Similarly, in a cohort of young children (Bodnar et al., 2020), analyses revealed differential cytokine network activity associated with both prenatal alcohol exposure and neurodevelopmental status (delay versus typical development). In other words, unique immune profiles in alcohol-exposed compared to unexposed children were noted, irrespective of neurodevelopmental status, reflecting alcohol exposure per se. As well, alcohol-exposed children who were typically developing had differentially activated cytokine networks compared to alcohol-exposed children who had developmental delay.

The ability to identify alterations in maternal and/or child cytokine networks that can be associated with both alcohol exposure and neuro-developmental delay provides a critical first step toward the development of possible biomarkers for early identification of at-risk children based on both maternal and child immune profiles. This is particularly important for those children who show no measurable physical phenotypes but whose

neurodevelopment has been adversely impacted by alcohol. Such biomarkers could then aid in developing more targeted early interventions for children who are at risk. Furthermore, this research highlights the potential for novel therapeutic approaches using immunomodulatory agents in intervention and treatment for FASD. Indeed, animal model studies have shown that the adverse effects of alcohol on CNS glial activation, which in turn lead to increased cytokine production, can be attenuated by a peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR γ) agonist that acts as an antiinflammatory agent by blocking microglial activation (Drew & Kane, 2016). These findings may also point to the potential use of these biomarkers as measures of treatment response, whereby children who respond to treatment may show immune signatures that become more similar to those found in typically developing children.

3.3.2 MicroRNA (miRNA) signatures

miRNAs comprise a family of small molecules that regulate gene expression and cellular functions. Importantly, several studies suggest that miRNAs are sensitive to alcohol, mediate many of the effects of alcohol, and are involved in the regulation of genes involved in development (Balaraman et al., 2016; Salem et al., 2020; Tseng et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2009). Moreover, miRNAs are secreted into the blood and thus may circulate in the body (Hunter et al., 2008). During pregnancy, fetal tissues like the placenta also secrete miRNAs that may enter the maternal circulation (Mahnke et al., 2021). Thus, maternal plasma miRNAs have a dual origin and may serve as composite biomarkers for both maternal and fetal health (Balaraman et al., 2016).

To this end, a recent study investigated whether changes in plasma miRNAs in women consuming alcohol during pregnancy could predict infant outcomes (Balaraman et al., 2016). These analyses identified 11 miRNAs that were significantly elevated in the maternal plasma of those who consumed alcohol and whose children showed adverse effects relative to both women who abstained and those who consumed alcohol but whose children were apparently unaffected. When these miRNAs were combined with smoking history and socioeconomic status into a single predictor, the accuracy of classification into these three distinct groups was above 80%. These data suggest that maternal plasma miRNAs may be useful in predicting infant outcomes, and in case finding of individuals at risk for FASD. In a subsequent study of circulating miRNAs in infants (Salem et al., 2020), prenatal alcohol exposure was associated with alterations in

patterns of miRNA expression at both 2 weeks and 6.5 months of age compared to those in control infants. Importantly, these altered miRNA networks were shown to identify infants who at 6.5 months exhibited alcohol-related growth deficits and deficits in infant memory, independent of measures obtained from the mother. These findings support the potential of miRNAs as biomarkers for predicting developmental problems linked to prenatal alcohol exposure.

3.3.3 Epigenetic signatures

Although FASD is a consequence of prenatal exposure to alcohol, both genetic and environmental factors contribute to the complex FASD phenotypes of growth deficits, physical abnormalities, physiological alterations, and neurocognitive, neurodevelopmental, and neurobehavioral impairments (Kaminen-Ahola, 2020). Increasing evidence suggests that epigenetic mechanisms may be one of those factors involved in mediating the broad range of effects that can occur following prenatal exposure to alcohol, and numerous studies have now begun to investigate epigenetic mechanisms in the etiology FASD. Importantly, epigenetic marks are emerging as potential biomarkers or signatures of early-life exposures, such as prenatal alcohol exposure. Generally, epigenetics refers to modifications of DNA and its regulatory components that potentially modulate gene transcription and changes in gene expression, without changing underlying DNA sequences (Aristizabal et al., 2020). The most widely studied epigenetic modification in human populations is DNA methylation, as it is both stable over time and responsive to environmental and genetic influences. Thus, DNA methylation is the focus of the studies discussed here.

Several *in vitro* or animal model studies identified epigenetic changes induced by prenatal or early postnatal exposure to alcohol. Ethanol-related changes were found to occur in specific brain regions or throughout the entire brain, with evidence of both decreased and increased DNA methylation, depending on the paradigm, brain area studied, and biological sex (Laufer et al., 2013; Liu, Balaraman, Wang, Nephew, & Zhou, 2009; Lussier, Bodnar, et al., 2018; Lussier et al., 2021; Lussier, Weinberg, & Kobor, 2017; Marjonen et al., 2015; Ungerer, Knezovich, & Ramsay, 2013). These studies paved the way for translational work with human cohorts. An early study characterized the DNA methylation profile in buccal epithelial cells (BECs) from a small cohort of children with FASD (n = 6), and found unique alterations in DNA methylation profiles, particularly

within the protocadherin gene clusters, that were influenced by sex and medication exposure (Laufer et al., 2015). DNA methylation profiles were subsequently studied in BECs from a large cohort (N = 206; 110 FASD and 96 controls) of children recruited by NeuroDevNet (now the Kids Brain Health Network), Canadian Networks of Centres of Excellence, where a DNA methylation signature of 658 loci specific to children with FASD was identified (Portales-Casamar et al., 2016). Although these data were collected from BECs, the vast majority of differentially methylated genes was highly expressed in the brain, and these alterations occurred in several genes previously implicated with prenatal alcohol exposure and altered neurodevelopment. To validate these findings, genome-wide DNA methylation profiles of BECs from an independent cohort of 24 individuals with FASD and 24 matched controls were identified, where 161 of the 658 loci from the original NDN cohort were replicated (Lussier, Morin, et al., 2018).

Importantly, the DNA methylation data from the NDN cohort were successfully utilized to generate a predictive algorithm to classify individuals as FASD or control with high accuracy (83% accuracy in predicting FASD compared to control status in the test cohort of 48 individuals [91% accuracy in the training dataset]) ((Lussier, Morin, et al., 2018)). Importantly, this model also showed 99% specificity in predicting ASD cases as non-FASD in a second independent dataset, highlighting the potential for DNA methylation as a sensitive and specific predictor of other neurodevelopmental disorders.

Building on this work, a recent epigenome-wide association study on FASD aimed to further to uncover loci associated with specific features of the FASD phenotype (Cobben et al., 2019). Utilizing a discovery set of 39 individuals with FASD and 64 controls, and a replication set of 7 well-characterized FASD cases and 28 controls, the investigators found suggestive evidence for differentially methylated regions associated with the FASD phenotypic features of impaired growth, facial features and CNS development. These findings suggest that DNA methylation data could be used to identify specific sets of phenotypes linked to FASD, beyond the simple identification of exposed versus unexposed individuals. Together, these studies demonstrate that unique epigenetic profiles can be identified in individuals with FASD, and that such profiles could form a basis for the development of epigenetic biomarkers that could facilitate early diagnosis, intervention, and support for individuals with FASD.

3.3.4 Other potential tools

Although we outline several avenues for biomarkers of prenatal alcohol exposure and FASD above, this remains an active area of investigation with numerous other types of markers and predictors in development. A few recent examples are briefly described:

Eye tracking measures have been used in a small cohort of children to distinguish children with FASD, ADHD, or typical development with relatively good accuracy using several features obtained from a short testing session (Tseng et al., 2013). Importantly, eye tracking differences can accurately differentiate children with FASD versus ADHD, which represents an important step forward in distinguishing these two neurodevelopmental disorders.

The cardiac orienting response (COR) has been noted as a potential biomarker to assess the effects of prenatal alcohol exposure on infants (Mesa et al., 2017). The COR is characterized by a specific pattern of heart rate deceleration in the presence of novel stimuli and results from the heart gating oxygen to the central nervous system. Of note, animal model studies suggest that the COR may provide an early index of the efficiency of prefrontal cortical functioning. Thus, a recent study compared the ability of the positive and negative predictive values of the COR and the Bayley Scales of Infant Development-II to identify developmental delay in children tested in a habituation/dishabituation learning paradigm. The COR performed slightly better than the Bayley at classifying children as alcohol-exposed or unexposed, suggesting that the possibility that the COR could be a useful screening tool for identifying different neurobehavioral profiles of FASD.

Imaging studies represent yet another emerging area of possible biomarker development. Two recent studies utilizing functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) measured blood oxygenation in the prefrontal cortex during an executive function task requiring cognitive inhibition (Barrett, Kable, Madsen, Hsu, & Coles, 2019) and a task that elicits frustration (Kable, Coles, & CIFASD, 2017) in children with FASD compared to unexposed controls and children with other neurodevelopmental or behavioral problems. Together, the results from these two studies suggest that oxygen utilization is altered in children with FASD during both cognitive and emotional tasks related to PFC function, and that these alterations differentiate children with prenatal alcohol exposure from those with other clinical conditions. Recent MRI studies also show promise in the development of biomarkers of FASD. For example, a recent study (Andre et al., 2020) examined the effects of prenatal alcohol exposure on both brain

structure and mental health outcomes in children. Importantly, as children prenatally exposed to alcohol are more likely than unexposed children to experience early-life adversity, the effects of prenatal alcohol were assessed in the presence or absence of adverse postnatal exposures. The results demonstrated that, overall, prenatal and postnatal exposures may differentially interact with alcohol to influence brain development.

Together, the studies discussed above reflect the rapid advancement of methods to predict and screen for FASD, and to distinguish FASD from other exposures and neurodevelopmental disorders, further emphasizing the need for discussions around ethical considerations for the development and implementation of biomarkers.

4. Stigmatization in FASD

Biomarkers have the potential to increase the identification of people with, or at risk for, FASD, as well as drawing attention to the behavior of biological mothers. This next section will review key concepts concerning stigma and how increased use of biomarkers in clinical settings might impact individuals with FASD and their families, including the potential to cause or increase stigma for these individuals. We will then note areas and approaches that could be leveraged to mitigate stigma in the future.

Stigma is a key consideration when discussing the development and implementation of biomarkers, as missed diagnoses of FASD can have profound societal and personal implications that go beyond medical impacts. Indeed, consequences of stigma overall can considerably increase stress and anxiety, as well as feelings of isolation and despair.

Stigmatization has been defined as a "social and culturally constituted process whereby a person is first identified as different and then devalued, leading to status loss and discrimination" (Roozen, Stutterheim, Bos, Kok, & Curfs, 2020) (p. 754). A similar definition by Goffman (1963) describes stigma as "an attribute that makes a person different from others in a social category, and it reduces the person to a [...] discounted status [...]; it is made up of a discrepancy between the virtual (or perceived) identity and the actual identity of the stigma's bearer" (p. 133). Four primary types of stigma have been characterized and will be discussed here (Hall, Hall, & Cockerell, 2011; Roozen et al., 2020): (1) public stigma, which represents the responses or reactions to a person perceived to have a stigmatized condition (Bos, Pryor, Reeder, & Stutterheim, 2013); (2) self-stigma, which represents internalization of the negative beliefs and attitudes about an

individual, reflecting the social and psychological impact of having a stigma; (3) stigma by association, which extends to individuals connected or associated with those who have the stigmatized condition, and can include the social and psychological reactions to being associated with a stigmatized person; and (4) structural stigma, which results from and is perpetuated by society's institutions and systems (Bos et al., 2013). It results from structures within society that marginalize people and increase negative attitudes and judgment. While these are interrelated and share common threads, public stigma is considered to be at the core of the other three types.

Individuals with disabilities have experienced extensive stigmatization over the centuries. One recent turning point in the United States came with the passage of the Americans with Disabilities Act in July 1990, which resulted in considerable gains for disabled individuals. Unfortunately, however, there are still significant barriers or disadvantages in "...education, employment, income, housing, transportation, and other eco-social determinants of health," as well as "disparities in ... health-care services" (Parekh & Childs, 2016) (p. 4) for individuals with disabilities, who are seen as different and therefore devalued, discounted, and often excluded.

4.1 FASD and stigma

For FASD, the diagnosis itself contributes to stigma as the term FASD identifies both the cause and the nature of the condition (Choate & Badry, 2019). If, like other disabilities that are often named for the person who identified or described them rather than for their cause, FASD had been named differently, the stigma associated with the diagnosis might have been reduced, at least to some extent. Compounding this issue is the contradictory fact that a large majority of individuals prenatally exposed to alcohol show no physical evidence (i.e., facial dysmorphology, birth defects, growth deficits) of alcohol exposure, making diagnosis more difficult, as well as the acceptance of an individual with FASD as someone with a disability. Indeed, FASD is often called the invisible disability (Riley et al., 2011). See Box 2 for an account of the stigmatization experienced by a person with FASD.

4.1.1 Public stigma

Public stigma related to FASD can occur at all levels and can have long-term and far-reaching consequences (Choate & Badry, 2019; Corrigan et al., 2017; Green, Cook, Racine, & Bell, 2016; Roozen et al., 2020). For one, individuals who consume alcohol during pregnancy may be stigmatized

BOX 2 Experiencing stigma in FASD.

From CJ Lutke, "Words of experience to teens and adults with FASD," NOFASD Australia (https://www.nofasd.org.au)

As one of the Adult Leadership Committee for FASD Change Makers, I speak up because not speaking out when you have FASD means we think it is something shameful—and you and me—we—have NOTHING to be ashamed of. Nothing at all.... But stereotyping is not just about labels—it is also about how we function and other people's misunderstandings get in the way.... Our efforts should be valued based on our efforts—how hard we try every day—and WE—you and I—can be PROUD of those efforts. We have to work many times harder than anyone else to do what others take for granted. Be PROUD. We are NOT disposable. This is our world, too. We are STRONG; we just don't know it until we figure it out. We have much to give, much to share, and much to teach... Because for us, FASD is not just a disability, it is a life experience. And no one understands that experience better than us.... FASD does not make us "hopeless"; it does not make us "tragic"; and it does not make us "victims." Those are someone else's labels and I reject them; we should all reject them. FASD just makes us different and there is nothing wrong with that. We should not let their labels or their discomforts define us, make us feel ashamed or cause us to be silent. That just devalues us—and that is what causes the shame we feel because it makes us feel worthless and it makes us doubt our own true self.

Text taken from postings on the NOFASD Australia website with permission.

as bad or neglectful parents, as being secretive or in denial about their alcohol dependence, or as responsible for adverse outcomes in their children (Corrigan et al., 2017). They may be blamed or shamed for consuming alcohol during pregnancy. Consistent with this is the often-heard statement that FASD is completely preventable. For example, a publication by the American Academy of Pediatrics states as one of its key premises: "Alcohol-related birth defects and developmental disabilities are completely preventable when pregnant women abstain from alcohol use" (Williams, Smith, & Committee on Substance Abuse, 2015) (p. e1395). Although factually true in the sense that FASD results from prenatal exposure to alcohol, this premise completely ignores the underlying trauma, social inequalities, mental health challenges or other social and environmental factors that may underlie substance use, and/or the fact that women may not be aware that they are pregnant when they drink (Abadir & Ickowicz, 2016; Corrigan et al., 2017). Indeed, studies have found that the highest risk of

having children with FASD came from individuals with lower socioeconomic backgrounds and lower levels of education, inadequate nutrition during pregnancy, alcohol-using partners, reduced access to prenatal care, and increased stress and/or abuse during pregnancy (Abadir & Ickowicz, 2016; Choate & Badry, 2019; Salmon, 2008), highlighting the wide range of environmental factors that contribute to both maternal substance use and adverse outcomes in the children as targets for prevention and intervention.

Moreover, individuals with FASD themselves are often stigmatized because of their disabilities. Some may consider them a burden on society due to their medical and other problems (Roozen et al., 2020). Further, for the majority of individuals with no identifying physical features of prenatal alcohol exposure, their cognitive, behavioral, and adaptive issues may be viewed as purposefully bad or lazy behavior (Choate & Badry, 2019).

Biological parents may also feel ashamed and thus conceal or deny drinking or avoid seeking counseling or treatment for themselves and help for their children. Even nonbiological parents of a child with FASD may be stigmatized. They may be held responsible for their child's behavior and other issues that are part of the disability, and thus feel misunderstood as well as shamed and blamed as bad parents. This, in turn, can impede their ability to seek help from support networks or professionals for their children, leaving their children undiagnosed and without the support and help they need.

4.1.2 Self-stigma

Self-stigma in relation to FASD also comprises several issues that can adversely impact parent-child relationships and prevent both parents and their children from seeking and/or getting help and support (Roozen et al., 2020). Children with FASD often internalize negative beliefs, which may affect their confidence and self-esteem and cause them to view themselves as less able and capable than they really are. Biological parents of children with FASD may also feel shame and blame, regardless of the fact that no one drinks during pregnancy with the intent to harm their child, but rather, that alcohol use and addiction is a disorder with multiple biological and social/environmental underpinnings. Many people are also unaware of the adverse effects of prenatal exposure to alcohol or may have never been told that drinking during pregnancy would be harmful.

4.1.3 Stigma by association

Stigma by association can extend to individuals connected or associated with those with FASD, and possibly also to those connected with individuals who consumed alcohol during pregnancy (Roozen et al., 2020). These individuals experience negative social and psychological reactions similar to those experienced by a stigmatized person. For instance, biological parents may experience being stigmatized not only for having consumed alcohol but also because they are associated with a child with FASD. Stigma by association is also felt by nonbiological parents. The consequences of stigma by association significantly increase stress and anxiety, and feelings of isolation and desperation, and can adversely affect outcomes for both parents and children (Choate & Badry, 2019).

4.1.4 Structural stigma

Structural stigma is also associated with FASD. For example, procedures or processes initiated to educate people about the adverse effects of prenatal alcohol exposure or that aim to reduce drinking in general may include punitive measures, emphasize risk and responsibility, and overlook systemic social and environmental conditions that contribute to substance use (Roozen et al., 2020). Such structural issues may marginalize people and increase negative attitudes and judgment. Providing support and services for parents or caregivers and for individuals with FASD can begin to overcome issues resulting from structural stigma.

4.2 Reducing stigma in FASD

Reducing the stigma and shame surrounding FASD is essential, and it has been suggested that multilevel approaches targeting all levels—individual, interpersonal, community, organizational, and structural—are needed. Despite the fact that it has become a public health priority to educate people about the adverse effects of consuming alcohol during pregnancy, stigma and health literacy have impacted the effectiveness of public health campaigns (Corrigan et al., 2018).

One potential solution may be to increase health literacy around FASD. Health literacy refers to "... the degree to which individuals accurately understand the impact of a health condition and interventions meant to remediate it" (Corrigan et al., 2018) (p. 267). In other words, the more one knows and understands about a condition, the less likely one may be to stigmatize it and the more likely one may be to engage in prevention

strategies (Corrigan et al., 2018). To this end, a recent study found that those with higher FASD literacy scores were more likely to agree that FASD is a major public health concern, and that women should not consume alcohol during pregnancy, providing support for the need for more public education about FASD.

4.2.1 Public perception

One factor underlying the public misperception of FASD is that literature and public information about FASD focus more on prevalence and problems from a biomedical perspective, rather than on intervention and support that could help to facilitate positive outcomes (Choate & Badry, 2019). In other words, a strength-based rather than a deficit-based approach to viewing and describing FASD could result in a shift that "...increase(s) the efficacy of the individual worth, the value of intervention and the empowerment of people and families addressing the life course challenges of FASD" (Choate & Badry, 2019) (p. 44). Consistent with this approach, and in parallel with the disability movement more generally, there is a growing movement within the FASD community that advocates "nothing about us without us" (Choate & Badry, 2019) (p. 37). Specifically, the voices of individuals with FASD are challenging the negative perceptions and highlighting the positive outcomes that are possible (Choate & Badry, 2019). Indeed, this is a pillar of neuroethics research—bringing the voices of people with living experience to the forefront. An exemplar of this approach is the Vancouver International FASD Conference run by University of British Columbia Interprofessional Continuing Education for three decades, until they were halted in 2020. These conferences brought together laboratory and clinical researchers, professionals, and experts from a broad range of disciplines (e.g., social work, psychology, medicine, nursing, education, addiction, prevention, diagnosis), individuals from justice, government and policy, and individuals in the FASD community as the voices of living experience who were actively involved at every stage in the design, development, and implementation of the conference. The impact of the interactions, sharing, and learning that occurred at this conference have significantly changed attitudes and thinking and have moved the field forward, highlighting the power of multidirectional and inclusive interactions.

While further research is needed to determine which approach will have the greatest impact on reducing stigma around FASD, these findings support the need for education to disseminate accurate information on FASD.

4.2.2 Interpersonal contact

Beyond education, interpersonal contact is a second important strategy for reducing stigma. Empirical studies and meta-analyses of the literature have compared the effectiveness of both education and contact interventions in reducing stigma in the area of mental health (reviewed in Roozen et al., 2020). While one study found that both types of interventions, separately and together, had effects on stigmatizing attitudes, a number of others found that contact with a person with mental illness was more effective than educational interventions. Although there are no studies comparing education and contact intervention strategies in relation to FASD, medical students who had courses on substance use dependence in pregnancy or who worked in a clinic where they had direct contact with individuals with substance use dependence were less judgmental and more comfortable working with these individuals (reviewed in Roozen et al., 2020). These findings speak to the possibility that contact with individuals with FASD could similarly alter attitudes and reduce stigma for these individuals and their families.

4.2.3 FASD as a whole-body disorder

Finally, shifting the emphasis from the cognitive and behavioral outcomes in FASD to viewing FASD as a whole-body disorder is an emerging strategy to combat stigma (Choate & Badry, 2019). Increasing evidence demonstrates that beyond brain and behavior, FASD is a disorder with numerous co-occurring conditions (Himmelreich, Lutke, & Hargrove, 2020; Popova et al., 2016). Individuals with FASD have a wide range of diseases and disorders with a significantly higher incidence and earlier age of onset compared to age-matched individuals in the general population. Viewing FASD in this context shifts the narrow emphasis on brain and behavior to a broader one that encompasses the whole body and person. In addition, some of the behavioral and adaptive issues of those with FASD might be related to medical issues that are often undiagnosed (Choate & Badry, 2019; Himmelreich et al., 2020). These whole-body issues might also provide additional diagnostic approaches for identifying affected individuals, as well as differentiating them from individuals affected by other overlapping neurodevelopmental disorders. From the viewpoint of neuroethics, the development of inclusive and multidisciplinary training of clinicians who treat individuals with FASD, not only pediatricians but also family physicians who treat adults, is essential. A focus on how to provide an accurate diagnosis for this variable and often invisible disorder, and how to link patients to appropriate services and supports will go a long way toward supporting and providing appropriate care for these individuals (Petryk, Siddiqui, Ekeh, & Pandey, 2019). Extending inclusive and multidisciplinary training to all professionals who work with individuals with FASD is also essential.

5. Ethical ramifications of biomarker use

Several social and ethical ramifications are emerging from the development and implementation of biomarkers for prenatal alcohol exposure and FASD. These include considerations related to the consequences of biomarker use in the context of stigma and consent, missed diagnoses, specificity and precision of the markers, information misuse, and differences between clinical and research applications. These differences can also manifest differently when discussing different types of biomarkers, such as those that focus on alcohol use or exposure versus child outcomes. However, these considerations ultimately link back to a single common theme—how can we ethically and responsibly use biomarkers in research and clinical settings to best serve the people they are ultimately designed to help?

5.1 Biomarkers of alcohol use or exposure

The real-time identification of prenatal alcohol exposure through biomarkers could help identify individuals who are drinking and thus enable or facilitate access to support and interventions to reduce drinking. However, this is an area fraught with problems of consent and stigma. As noted in Section 4, there is considerable stigmatization of pregnant individuals who may have substance use disorders, and the so-called blame for their children developing FASD can be misattributed as falling squarely on their shoulders. As such, many individuals, especially those who are pregnant, deny and hide their drinking due to the potential shame and blame associated with drinking. The same problem would likely occur with the implementation of real-time biomarkers of alcohol use in clinical settings, whereby consent to use these biomarkers would not be a given. Should consent not be provided, it remains unclear whether interventions or support could still be provided, or if the simple act of refusal could further stigmatize the individual and reduce the likelihood of seeking support at a later time.

Similar issues of consent and privacy would still arise if these maternal or child biomarkers were solely assessed in the child after birth, as the results would focus directly on the mother's actions and infringe on her rights, while leading to further stigmatization. In addition, not all children who

have prenatal alcohol exposure will necessarily develop any of the deficits or issues associated with FASD. As such, there is a potential to further stigmatize or discriminate against children themselves. Further, the application of these biomarkers would be fraught with potential issues of discrimination if they are not implemented as a standard screen for all births, as both conscious and unconscious biases could lead to healthcare providers targeting the use of these biomarkers to stigmatized vulnerable populations. The use of such approaches could disproportionately impact and further stigmatize vulnerable populations that experience higher rates of substance use and mental disorders, as well as those in lower socioeconomic areas that might be specifically targeted by care providers or governmental programs as high-risk. Thus, particular care must be taken when implementing biomarkers of alcohol exposure specifically, as these could have the potential to do further harm to vulnerable populations.

5.2 Biomarkers of child outcomes

By contrast, biomarkers that predict child outcomes have the potential to reduce the morbidity and possible mortality of diseases and disorders, as well as the adverse cognitive and behavioral effects of prenatal alcohol exposure by enabling early diagnosis and therefore early intervention. This is the crux of what is hoped for in biomarkers of FASD—that early diagnosis or early identification of risk will enable early intervention and support and thus reduce adverse outcomes over the life course. However, while early intervention might, indeed, support positive outcomes for the individual, using biomarkers to identify affected individuals might do nothing to decrease stigma at some levels, e.g., stigma by association or structural stigma, and might even increase stigma. Furthermore, as stigmatization increases blame and shame among both parents and children, it can push individuals and families away from seeking the treatments that can help improve their quality of life.

5.3 Missed or incorrect diagnoses

As noted in Section 3 on current biomarkers of prenatal alcohol exposure and FASD, there remain risks for false-positive or false-negative findings stemming from the use of biomarkers, as well as their specificity for different types of neurodevelopmental disorders. Thus, the missed or incorrect diagnosis of children with(out) FASD will be an important ethical concern moving forward.

Misattribution of FASD to typically developing children could have important ramifications for development. Beyond the issues surrounding stigmatization and discrimination described above, there is a possibility that incorrect diagnoses may lead children to believe that there is something wrong with them, which may lead to somatization or nocebo effects (i.e., harmful outcomes arising as a result of expectations of negative symptoms). Incorrect diagnoses may also lead to unnecessary, costly, and potentially intrusive treatments, which could have profound effects on child development. Similarly, as resources for FASD treatment and support remain limited, high rates of false positives could further reduce the availability of such resources to children and families who depend on them.

By contrast, false-negative findings from biomarkers could prevent access to those resources, which would increase the disparities and challenges facing children and families with undiagnosed FASD. Further, should deficits begin to emerge later in development, families may spend considerable time and resources attempting to obtain *any* diagnosis to help their child. In addition to the burden placed on families and children, these attempts could lead to further misdiagnoses and ensuing treatments that are poorly suited to children with FASD.

Similar to these issues around false-positive and false-negative diagnoses, the specificity of biomarkers must be rigorously assessed to prevent a missed etiologic diagnosis. Thus far, for most biomarkers of FASD, their specificity for FASD and/or extent to which they overlap with other neurodevelopmental disorders has not been investigated. Notable exceptions are the epigenetic signature of FASD, which could distinguish ASD from FASD cases (Lussier, Morin, et al., 2018), and eye tracking tools, which can currently differentiate between ADHD and FASD in research settings (Tseng et al., 2013). However, this initial step is a long way from establishing the specificity of these biomarkers for FASD as a potential etiology. As treatments differ among neurodevelopmental disorders (see Section 2.3), it will be crucial to assess the ability of biomarkers to distinguish between neurodevelopmental disorders. Nonetheless, biomarkers ultimately represent an opportunity to supplement symptom-based diagnoses with more empirical measures, which could increase the accuracy of neurodevelopmental disorder diagnoses and help better target interventions to those in need.

5.4 Clinical versus research-based biomarkers

Many, if not all, of the biomarkers discussed in the present chapter remain primarily research-based and have not yet been implemented in clinical

settings. However, the shift from research to clinical applications will need careful assessment and planning to prevent the issues of stigma, discrimination, and missed diagnosis described above. Further, many of the genome-wide tools have relied on population-level data, similar to studies of genetic risk using polygenic risk scores (PRS), where the risk of a disorder is relative to other people (Kumuthini et al., 2022; Lewis & Vassos, 2020). From this perspective, many of the biomarkers discussed in the present chapter and under development may reflect a measure of risk, rather than a distinct diagnosis of FASD or other neurodevelopmental disorder. As such, most biomarkers should be used in conjunction with other assessment tools to ensure reliable and accurate diagnoses.

The transition from research to clinical settings will also require careful consideration of implementation methods, which could occur through two distinct avenues or phases: (1) individual-level cases with a suspicion of exposure and (2) population-level screens. As discussed above, individual-level applications can be susceptible to bias and discrimination. However, this targeted approach could reduce the resources needed to implement biomarkers in clinical settings and thus, make them more readily accessible when needed. This approach could also ease the barriers to begin using biomarkers in the clinic, as their use would be more specific and likely to supplement other diagnostic methods. By contrast, population-level screens will require more deliberate and thorough assessments to ensure their robustness, as false-positive and false-negative diagnoses could lead to more widespread problems in these large-scale settings. For a more thorough discussion of the ethical considerations around population screening, see Spencer and Fullerton (2022).

6. Conclusions and next steps

Biomarkers for neurodevelopmental disorders represent an important next step in the development of better prediction and treatment strategies for children and families affected by neurodevelopmental disorders such as FASD. However, there remain several key steps and ethical considerations before they can be equitably and responsibly implemented in clinical and population-wide settings.

Beyond the issues discussed above, we should also consider who will use these biomarkers—one might suggest they be used for anticipatory guidance and surveillance regarding developmental, as well as physical and mental health outcomes. Yet, the data and studies to support this argument remain in their infancy and require further efforts to determine whether this strategy

would be effective at the individual and population-level. Further, we should also begin to consider how these biomarkers will be used, whether in the hospital for pregnant women, neonatal intensive care unit (NICU), or postnatally when there may be suspected neurodevelopmental disorders or ascertainment by child welfare services, and what the privacy and consent issues around their use will be. While specific categories of biomarkers may have different strategies for their use, we must carefully consider how their implementation will impact children and families who may or may not have neurodevelopmental disorders.

Ultimately, the ethical use of biomarkers for neurodevelopmental disorders will likely require extensive evaluation by ethics groups and potentially legislative action to ensure that all parties remain protected and receive the best care possible. Given the rapid evolution and emphasis on these biomarkers in research spaces, these next steps may happen sooner and with less diligence than they necessarily require. Nonetheless, the potential of biomarkers to improve the treatment and lives of people affected by neurodevelopmental disorders provides a strong incentive to further build and extend ethical frameworks for the development and implementation of biomarkers for these disorders.

References

- Abadir, A. M., & Ickowicz, A. (2016). Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: Reconsidering blame. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 188(3), 171–172.
- Allen, J., Sillanaukee, P., Strid, N., & Litten, R. (2003). Biomarkers of heavy drinking. Assessing alcohol problems: A guide for clinicians and researchers.
- Andre, Q. R., McMorris, C. A., Kar, P., Ritter, C., Gibbard, W. B., Tortorelli, C., et al. (2020). Different brain profiles in children with prenatal alcohol exposure with or without early adverse exposures. *Human Brain Mapping*, 41(15), 4375–4385.
- Aristizabal, M. J., Anreiter, I., Halldorsdottir, T., Odgers, C. L., McDade, T. W., Goldenberg, A., et al. (2020). Biological embedding of experience: A primer on epigenetics. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 117(38), 23261. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1820838116.
- Astley, S. J., Olson, H. C., Kerns, K., Brooks, A., Aylward, E. H., Coggins, T. E., et al. (2009). Neuropsychological and behavioral outcomes from a comprehensive magnetic resonance study of children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. *Canadian Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 16(1), e178–e201. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19329824.
- Austerman, J. (2015). ADHD and behavioral disorders: Assessment, management, and an update from DSM-5. *Cleveland Clinic Journal of Medicine*, 82(11 Suppl 1), S2–S7. https://doi.org/10.3949/ccjm.82.s1.01.
- Bager, H., Christensen, L. P., Husby, S., & Bjerregaard, L. (2017). Biomarkers for the detection of prenatal alcohol exposure: A review. *Alcohol: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 41(2), 251–261. https://doi.org/10.1111/acer.13309.

Bakhireva, L. N., Leeman, L., Savich, R. D., Cano, S., Gutierrez, H., Savage, D. D., et al. (2014). The validity of phosphatidylethanol in dried blood spots of newborns for the identification of prenatal alcohol exposure. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 38, 1078–1085.

- Bakhireva, L. N., & Savage, D. D. (2011). Focus on: Biomarkers of fetal alcohol exposure and fetal alcohol effects. *Alcohol Research & Health*, 34(1), 56–63.
- Balaraman, S., Schafer, J. J., Tseng, A. M., Wertelecki, W., Yevtushok, L., Zymak-Zakutnya, N., et al. (2016). Plasma miRNA profiles in pregnant women predict infant outcomes following prenatal alcohol exposure. PLoS One, 11, e0165081.
- Barrett, C. E., Kable, J. A., Madsen, T. E., Hsu, C.-C., & Coles, C. D. (2019). The use of functional near-infrared spectroscopy to differentiate alcohol-related neurodevelopmental impairment. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 44(2), 203–219.
- Bearer, C. F., Jacobson, J. L., Jacobson, S. W., Barr, D., Croxford, J., Molteno, C. D., et al. (2003). Validation of a new biomarker of fetal exposure to alcohol. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 143, 463–469.
- Bearer, C. F., Lee, S., Salvator, A. E., Minnes, S., Swick, A., Yamashita, T., et al. (1999). Ethyl linoleate in meconium: A biomarker for prenatal ethanol exposure. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 23, 487–493.
- Bearer, C. F., Santiago, L. M., O'Riordan, M. A., Buck, K., Lee, S. C., & Singer, L. T. (2005). Fatty acid ethyl esters: Quantitative biomarkers for maternal alcohol consumption. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 146, 824–830.
- Bearer, C. F., Stoler, J. M., Cook, J. D., & Carpenter, S. J. (2004). Biomarkers of alcohol use in pregnancy. *Alcohol Research & Health*, 28(1), 38–43.
- Benz, J., Rasmussen, C., & Andrew, G. (2009). Diagnosing fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: History, challenges and future directions. *Paediatrics & Child Health*, 14(4), 231–237. https://doi.org/10.1093/pch/14.4.231.
- Bertrand, J., Floyd, L., & Weber, M. K. (2005). Fetal alcohol syndrome: Guidelines for referral and diagnosis.
- Biomarkers Definitions Working Group. (2001). Biomarkers and surrogate endpoints: Preferred definitions and conceptual framework. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 69(3), 89–95. https://doi.org/10.1067/mcp.2001.113989.
- Bishop, S., Gahagan, S., & Lord, C. (2007). Re-examining the core features of autism: A comparison of autism spectrum disorder and fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, 48(11), 1111–1121. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01782.x.
- Bodnar, T. S., Hill, L. A., & Weinberg, J. (2016). Evidence for an immune signature of prenatal alcohol exposure in female rats. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 58, 130–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2016.05.022.
- Bodnar, T. S., Raineki, C., Wertelecki, W., Yevtushok, L., Plotka, L., Granovska, I., et al. (2020). Immune network dysregulation associated with child neurodevelopmental delay: Modulatory role of prenatal alcohol exposure. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 17(1), 1–14.
- Bodnar, T. S., Raineki, C., Wertelecki, W., Yevtushok, L., Plotka, L., Zymak–Zakutnya, N., et al. (2018). Altered maternal immune networks are associated with adverse child neurodevelopment: Impact of alcohol consumption during pregnancy. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2018.05.004.
- Bonthius, D. J., & West, J. R. (1990). Alcohol-induced neuronal loss in developing rats: Increased brain damage with binge exposure. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 14, 107–118. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.1990.tb00455.x.
- Bos, A. E., Pryor, J. B., Reeder, G. D., & Stutterheim, S. E. (2013). Stigma: Advances in theory and research. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 35(1), 1–9.
- Burd, L. (2016). FASD and ADHD: Are they related and how? *BMC Psychiatry*, 16(1), 325. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-016-1028-x.

- Burd, L., Deal, E., Rios, R., Adickes, E., Wynne, J., & Klug, M. G. (2007). Congenital heart defects and fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. *Congenital Heart Disease*, 2, 250–255.
- Cabarcos, P., Álvarez, I., Tabernero, M. J., & Bermejo, A. M. (2015). Determination of direct alcohol markers: A review. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, 407, 4907–4925.
- Carter, R. C., Jacobson, J. L., Molteno, C. D., Dodge, N. C., Meintjes, E. M., Jacobson, S. W., et al. (2016). Fetal alcohol growth restriction and cognitive impairment. *Pediatrics*, 138, 176192.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2002). Fetal alcohol syndrome— Alaska, Arizona, Colorado, and New York, 1995-1997. MMWR: Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 51(20), 433–435.
- Chasnoff, I. J., Wells, A. M., & King, L. (2015). Misdiagnosis and missed diagnoses in foster and adopted children with prenatal alcohol exposure. *Pediatrics*, 135(2), 264–270. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-2171.
- Choate, P., & Badry, D. (2019). Stigma as a dominant discourse in fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. *Advances in Dual Diagnosis*, 12(1/2), 36–52.
- Cobben, J. M., Krzyzewska, I. M., Venema, A., Mul, A. N., Polstra, A., Postma, A. V., et al. (2019). DNA methylation abundantly associates with fetal alcohol spectrum disorder and its subphenotypes. *Epigenomics*, 11(7), 767–785. https://doi.org/10.2217/epi-2018-0221.
- Coles, C. D., Bandoli, G., Kable, J. A., Del Campo, M., Suttie, M., & Chambers, C. D. (2023). Comparison of three systems for the diagnosis of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders in a community sample. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 47(2), 370–381. https://doi.org/10.1111/acer.14999.
- Corrigan, P. W., Lara, J. L., Shah, B. B., Mitchell, K. T., Simmes, D., & Jones, K. L. (2017). The public stigma of birth mothers of children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 41(6), 1166–1173.
- Corrigan, P. W., Shah, B. B., Lara, J. L., Mitchell, K. T., Simmes, D., & Jones, K. L. (2018). Addressing the public health concerns of fetal alcohol Spectrum disorder: Impact of stigma and health literacy. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 185, 266–270.
- Danielson, M. L., Bitsko, R. H., Ghandour, R. M., Holbrook, J. R., Kogan, M. D., & Blumberg, S. J. (2018). Prevalence of parent-reported ADHD diagnosis and associated treatment among U.S. children and adolescents, 2016. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 47(2), 199–212. https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2017.1417860.
- Doyle, K. M., Bird, D. A., Al-Salihi, S., Hallaq, Y., Cluette-Brown, J. E., Goss, K. A., et al. (1994). Fatty acid ethyl esters are present in human serum after ethanol ingestion. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 35(3), 428–437.
- Doyle, L. R., & Mattson, S. N. (2015). Neurobehavioral disorder associated with prenatal alcohol exposure (ND-PAE): Review of evidence and guidelines for assessment. Current Developmental Disorders Reports, 2(3), 175–186. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s40474-015-0054-6.
- Drew, P. D., & Kane, C. J. (2014). Fetal alcohol spectrum disorders and neuroimmune changes. *International Review of Neurobiology*, 118, 41–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/ B978-0-12-801284-0.00003-8.
- Drew, P. D., & Kane, C. J. (2016). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-γ agonists: Potential therapeutics for neuropathology associated with fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. *Journal of Clinical & Cellular Immunology*, 7(6).
- Ewing, J. A. (1984). Detecting alcoholism: The CAGE questionnaire. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 252(14), 1905–1907.
- Fagan, K. J., Irvine, K. M., McWhinney, B. C., Fletcher, L. M., Horsfall, L. U., Johnson, L., et al. (2014). Diagnostic sensitivity of carbohydrate deficient transferrin in heavy drinkers. BMC Gastroenterology, 14, 1–6.

Famy, C., Streissguth, A. P., & Unis, A. S. (1998). Mental illness in adults with fetal alcohol syndrome or fetal alcohol effects. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 155(4), 552–554. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.155.4.552.

- Flannigan, K., Kapasi, A., Pei, J., Murdoch, I., Andrew, G., & Rasmussen, C. (2021). Characterizing adverse childhood experiences among children and adolescents with prenatal alcohol exposure and fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, 112, 104888. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104888.
- Goffman, E. (1963). Stigma: Notes on a spoiled identity. New Jersey: Prentice Hall.
- Green, C., Cook, J., Racine, E., & Bell, E. (2016). Stigma, discrimination and fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. Canada FASD Research Network (CanFASD).
- Greenspan, S., Brown, N. N., & Edwards, W. (2015). FASD and the concept of "intellectual disability equivalence". In Fetal alcohol spectrum disorders in adults: Ethical and legal perspectives: An overview on FASD for professionals (pp. 241–266). Springer.
- Greenspan, S., & Novick Brown, N. (2022). Diagnosing intellectual disability in people with fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: A function of which diagnostic manual is used? Behavioral Sciences & the Law, 40(1), 31–45. https://doi.org/10.1002/bsl.2551.
- Hall, J. C., Hall, B. J., & Cockerell, C. J. (2011). HIV/AIDS in the post-HAART era: Manifestations, treatment, and epidemiology. PMPH-USA.
- Harris, S. R., MacKay, L. L., & Osborn, J. A. (1995). Autistic behaviors in offspring of mothers abusing alcohol and other drugs: A series of case reports. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 19(3), 660–665. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.1995.tb01564.x.
- Himmelreich, M., Lutke, C., & Hargrove, E. T. (2020). The lay of the land: Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD) as a whole-body diagnosis. In *The Routledge handbook* of social work and addictive behaviors (pp. 191–215). Routledge.
- Hours, C., Recasens, C., & Baleyte, J. M. (2022). ASD and ADHD comorbidity: What are we talking about? Frontiers in Psychiatry, 13, 837424. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2022. 837424.
- Hunter, M. P., Ismail, N., Zhang, X., Aguda, B. D., Lee, E. J., Yu, L., et al. (2008). Detection of microRNA expression in human peripheral blood microvesicles. *PLoS One*, 3(11), e3694.
- Hyman, S. L., Levy, S. E., Myers, S. M., Kuo, D. Z., Apkon, S., Davidson, L. F., et al. (2020). Identification, evaluation, and management of children with autism spectrum disorder. *Pediatrics*, 145(1).
- Jones, K. L., & Smith, D. W. (1973). Recognition of the fetal alcohol syndrome in early infancy. Lancet, 302, 999–1001.
- Jones, K. L., Smith, D. W., Ulleland, C. N., & Streissguth, P. (1973). Pattern of malformation in offspring of chronic alcoholic women. *Lancet*, 1, 1267–1271.
- Kable, J. A., Coles, C. D., & CIFASD. (2017). Prefrontal cortical responses in children with prenatal alcohol-related neurodevelopmental impairment: A functional near-infrared spectroscopy study. Clinical Neurophysiology, 128(11), 2099–2109.
- Kable, J. A., O'Connor, M. J., Olson, H. C., Paley, B., Mattson, S. N., Anderson, S. M., et al. (2016). Neurobehavioral disorder associated with prenatal alcohol exposure (ND-PAE):
 Proposed DSM-5 diagnosis. Child Psychiatry and Human Development, 47, 335–346.
 Springer US.
- Kaminen-Ahola, N. (2020). Fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: Genetic and epigenetic mechanisms. *Prenatal Diagnosis*, 40(9), 1185–1192. https://doi.org/10.1002/pd.5731.
- Koenig, G., & Seneff, S. (2015). Gamma-glutamyltransferase: A predictive biomarker of cellular antioxidant inadequacy and disease risk. *Disease Markers*, 2015.
- Kumuthini, J., Zick, B., Balasopoulou, A., Chalikiopoulou, C., Dandara, C., El-Kamah, G., et al. (2022). The clinical utility of polygenic risk scores in genomic medicine practices: A systematic review. *Human Genetics*, 141(11), 1697–1704. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-022-02452-x.

- Kwak, H.-S., Han, J.-Y., Choi, J.-S., Ahn, H.-K., Kwak, D.-W., Lee, Y.-K., et al. (2014a). Dose-response and time-response analysis of total fatty acid ethyl esters in meconium as a biomarker of prenatal alcohol exposure. *Prenatal Diagnosis*, *34*, 831–838.
- Kwak, H.-S., Han, J.-Y., Choi, J.-S., Ahn, H.-K., Ryu, H.-M., Chung, H.-J., et al. (2014b). Characterization of phosphatidylethanol blood concentrations for screening alcohol consumption in early pregnancy. *Clinical Toxicology*, 52, 25–31. Taylor & Francis.
- Lange, S., Rehm, J., Anagnostou, E., & Popova, S. (2018). Prevalence of externalizing disorders and autism spectrum disorders among children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Biochemistry and Cell Biology*, 96(2), 241–251. https://doi.org/10.1139/bcb-2017-0014.
- Laufer, B. I., Kapalanga, J., Castellani, C. A., Diehl, E. J., Yan, L., & Singh, S. M. (2015). Associative DNA methylation changes in children with prenatal alcohol exposure. *Epigenomics*, 7(8), 1259–1274. https://doi.org/10.2217/epi.15.60.
- Laufer, B. I., Mantha, K., Kleiber, M. L., Diehl, E. J., Addison, S. M. F., & Singh, S. M. (2013). Long-lasting alterations to DNA methylation and ncRNAs could underlie the effects of fetal alcohol exposure in mice. *Disease Models & Mechanisms*, 6, 977–992.
- Lemoine, P., Harousseau, H., Borteyru, J. P., & Menuet, J. C. (2003). Children of alcoholic parents—Observed anomalies: Discussion of 127 cases. *Therapeutic Drug Monitoring*, 25, 132–136. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007691-200304000-00002.
- Lewis, C. M., & Vassos, E. (2020). Polygenic risk scores: From research tools to clinical instruments. Genome Medicine, 12(1), 44. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13073-020-00742-5.
- Liu, Y., Balaraman, Y., Wang, G., Nephew, K. P., & Zhou, F. C. (2009). Alcohol exposure alters DNA methylation profiles in mouse embryos at early neurulation. *Epigenetics*, 4(7), 500–511. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20009564.
- Lussier, A. A., Bodnar, T. S., Mingay, M., Morin, A. M., Hirst, M., Kobor, M. S., et al. (2018). Prenatal alcohol exposure: Profiling developmental DNA methylation patterns in central and peripheral tissues. *Frontiers in Genetics*, *9*, 610. Frontiers Media S.A.
- Lussier, A. A., Bodnar, T. S., Moksa, M., Hirst, M., Kobor, M. S., & Weinberg, J. (2021). Prenatal adversity alters the epigenetic profile of the prefrontal cortex: Sexually dimorphic effects of prenatal alcohol exposure and food-related stress. Genes (Basel), 12(11), 1773.
- Lussier, A. A., Morin, A. M., MacIsaac, J. L., Salmon, J., Weinberg, J., Reynolds, J. N., et al. (2018). DNA methylation as a predictor of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. *Clinical Epigenetics*, 10(1), 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-018-0439-6.
- Lussier, A. A., Petrelli, B., Hicks, G. G., & Weinberg, J. (2023). Genetic, epigenetic, and environmental influences on fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: Implications for diagnosis, research and clinical practice. In *Neurodevelopmental pediatrics: Genetic and environmental* influences (pp. 441–456). Springer.
- Lussier, A. A., Weinberg, J., & Kobor, M. S. (2017). Epigenetics studies of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: Where are we now? *Epigenomics*, 9(3), 291–311.
- Lynch, M. E., Kable, J. A., & Coles, C. D. (2015). Prenatal alcohol exposure, adaptive function, and entry into adult roles in a prospective study of young adults. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology*, 51, 52–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ntt.2015.07.008.
- Mahnke, A. H., Sideridis, G. D., Salem, N. A., Tseng, A. M., Carter, R. C., Dodge, N. C., et al. (2021). Infant circulating microRNAs as biomarkers of effect in fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 1–23.
- Marjonen, H., Sierra, A., Nyman, A., Rogojin, V., Grohn, O., Linden, A. M., et al. (2015). Early maternal alcohol consumption alters hippocampal DNA methylation, gene expression and volume in a mouse model. *PLoS One*, 10(5), e0124931. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0124931.

Maulik, P. K., Mascarenhas, M. N., Mathers, C. D., Dua, T., & Saxena, S. (2011). Prevalence of intellectual disability: A meta-analysis of population-based studies. Research in Developmental Disabilities, 32(2), 419–436. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd. 2010.12.018.

- May, P. A., Baete, A., Russo, J., Elliott, A. J., Blankenship, J., Kalberg, W. O., et al. (2014). Prevalence and characteristics of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. *Pediatrics*, 134, 855–866. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2013-3319.
- May, P. A., Chambers, C. D., Kalberg, W. O., Zellner, J., Feldman, H., Buckley, D., et al. (2018). Prevalence of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders in 4 US communities. Journal of the American Medical Association, 319, 474–482. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2017.21896.
- May, P. A., Fiorentino, D., Coriale, G., Kalberg, W. O., Hoyme, H. E., Aragón, A. S., et al. (2011). Prevalence of children with severe fetal alcohol spectrum disorders in communities near Rome, Italy: New estimated rates are higher than previous estimates. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 8, 2331–2351. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph8062331.
- May, P. A., Gossage, J. P., Kalberg, W. O., Robinson, L. K., Buckley, D., Manning, M., et al. (2009). Prevalence and epidemiologic characteristics of FASD from various research methods with an emphasis on recent in-school studies. *Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 15, 176–192. https://doi.org/10.1002/ddrr.68.
- May, P. A., Gossage, J. P., White-Country, M., Goodhart, K., Decoteau, S., Trujillo, P. M., et al. (2004). Alcohol consumption and other maternal risk factors for fetal alcohol syndrome among three distinct samples of women before, during, and after pregnancy: The risk is relative. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part C: Seminars in Medical Genetics*, 127C, 10–20.
- May, P. A., Hasken, J. M., Hooper, S. R., Hedrick, D. M., Jackson-Newsom, J., Mullis, C. E., et al. (2021). Estimating the community prevalence, child traits, and maternal risk factors of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders (FASD) from a random sample of school children. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 227, 108918. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.drugalcdep.2021.108918.
- May, P. A., Keaster, C., Bozeman, R., Goodover, J., Blankenship, J., Kalberg, W. O., et al. (2015). Prevalence and characteristics of fetal alcohol syndrome and partial fetal alcohol syndrome in a Rocky Mountain Region City. *Drug & Alcohol Dependence*, 155, 118–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2015.08.006.
- Mesa, D. A., Kable, J. A., Coles, C. D., Jones, K. L., Yevtushok, L., Kulikovsky, Y., et al. (2017). The use of cardiac orienting responses as an early and scalable biomarker of alcohol-related neurodevelopmental impairment. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 41, 128–138.
- Moore, E. M., & Riley, E. P. (2015). What happens when children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorders become adults? *Current Developmental Disorders Reports*, 2, 219–227. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40474-015-0053-7.
- Nanson, J. L. (1992). Autism in fetal alcohol syndrome: A report of six cases. Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research, 16(3), 558–565. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.1992.tb01417.x.
- National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences. (2023). *Biomarkers*. Retrieved from https://www.niehs.nih.gov/health/topics/science/biomarkers/.
- Noor, S., & Milligan, E. D. (2018). Lifelong impacts of moderate prenatal alcohol exposure on neuroimmune function. Frontiers in Immunology, 9, 1107. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fimmu.2018.01107.
- Okulicz-Kozaryn, K., Borkowska, M., & Brzózka, K. (2017). FASD prevalence among schoolchildren in Poland. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 30, 61–70.

- Ostrea, E. M., Hernandez, J. D., Bielawski, D. M., Kan, J. M., Leonardo, G. M., Abela, M. B., et al. (2006). Fatty acid ethyl esters in meconium: Are they biomarkers of fetal alcohol exposure and effect? *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 30, 1152–1159.
- Panczakiewicz, A. L., Glass, L., Coles, C. D., Kable, J. A., Sowell, E. R., Wozniak, J. R., et al. (2016). Neurobehavioral deficits consistent across age and sex in youth with prenatal alcohol exposure. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 40(9), 1971–1981. https://doi.org/10.1111/acer.13153.
- Parekh, R., & Childs, E. W. (2016). Stigma and prejudice: Touchstones in understanding diversity in healthcare. Springer.
- Patel, D. R., Apple, R., Kanungo, S., & Akkal, A. (2018). Intellectual disability: Definitions, evaluation and principles of treatment. *Pediatric Medicine*, 1, 11.
- Patel, D. R., Cabral, M. D., Ho, A., & Merrick, J. (2020). A clinical primer on intellectual disability. *Translational Pediatrics*, 9(Suppl. 1), S23–S35. https://doi.org/10.21037/tp. 2020.02.02.
- Peadon, E., & Elliott, E. J. (2010). Distinguishing between attention-deficit hyperactivity and fetal alcohol spectrum disorders in children: Clinical guidelines. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 6, 509–515. https://doi.org/10.2147/ndt.s7256.
- Petković, G., & Barišić, I. (2013). Prevalence of fetal alcohol syndrome and maternal characteristics in a sample of schoolchildren from a rural province of Croatia. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 10, 1547–1561.
- Petryk, S., Siddiqui, M. A., Ekeh, J., & Pandey, M. (2019). Prenatal alcohol history—Setting a threshold for diagnosis requires a level of detail and accuracy that does not exist. *BMC Pediatrics*, 19(1), 372. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12887-019-1759-1.
- Pollard, I. (2007). Neuropharmacology of drugs and alcohol in mother and fetus. Seminars in Fetal & Neonatal Medicine, 12(2), 106–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.siny.2006.12.001.
- Popova, S., Lange, S., Poznyak, V., Chudley, A. E., Shield, K. D., Reynolds, J. N., et al. (2019). Population-based prevalence of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder in Canada. *BMC Public Health*, 19(1), 845. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-7213-3.
- Popova, S., Lange, S., Probst, C., Gmel, G., & Rehm, J. (2017). Estimation of national, regional, and global prevalence of alcohol use during pregnancy and fetal alcohol syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Global Health*, 5, e290–e299. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(17)30021-9.
- Popova, S., Lange, S., Probst, C., Gmel, G., & Rehm, J. (2018). Global prevalence of alcohol use and binge drinking during pregnancy, and fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. *Biochemistry and Cell Biology*, 96(2), 237–240.
- Popova, S., Lange, S., Shield, K., Mihic, A., Chudley, A. E., Mukherjee, R. A. S., et al. (2016). Comorbidity of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet*, 387(10022), 978–987. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15) 01345-8.
- Popova, S., Lange, S., Shield, K., Mihic, A., Chudley, A. E., Mukherjee, R. A. S., et al. (2017). Comorbidity of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet*, 6736, 1–10. Elsevier.
- Portales-Casamar, E., Lussier, A. A., Jones, M. J., MacIsaac, J. L., Edgar, R. D., Mah, S. M., et al. (2016). DNA methylation signature of human fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. Epigenetics & Chromatin, 9, 25. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13072-016-0074-4.
- Pragst, F., & Yegles, M. (2008). Determination of fatty acid ethyl esters (FAEE) and ethyl glucuronide (EtG) in hair: A promising way for retrospective detection of alcohol abuse during pregnancy? *Therapeutic Drug Monitoring*, 30(2), 255–263.
- Rasmussen, C., Benz, J., Pei, J., Andrew, G., Schuller, G., Abele-Webster, L., et al. (2010). The impact of an ADHD co-morbidity on the diagnosis of FASD. *Canadian Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 17(1), e165–e176.

Ray, P., Manach, Y. L., Riou, B., Houle, T. T., & Warner, D. S. (2010). Statistical evaluation of a biomarker. *Anesthesiology*, 112(4), 1023–1040. https://doi.org/10.1097/ALN.0b013e3181d47604.

- Riley, E. P., Clarren, S., Weinberg, J., & Jonsson, E. (2011). Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: Management and policy perspectives of FASD. John Wiley & Sons.
- Roozen, S., Peters, G.-J. Y., Kok, G., Townend, D., Nijhuis, J., & Curfs, L. (2016). Worldwide prevalence of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: A systematic literature review including meta-analysis. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research, 40, 18–32. https://doi.org/10.1111/acer.12939.
- Roozen, S., Stutterheim, S. E., Bos, A. E., Kok, G., & Curfs, L. M. (2020). Understanding the social stigma of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: From theory to interventions. *Foundations of Science*, 1–19.
- Russell, M. (1994). New assessment tools for risk drinking during pregnancy: T-ACE, TWEAK, and others. *Alcohol Health and Research World*, 18(1), 55.
- Russell, M., Martier, S. S., Sokol, R. J., Mudar, P., Jacobson, S., & Jacobson, J. (1996). Detecting risk drinking during pregnancy: A comparison of four screening questionnaires. *American Journal of Public Health*, 86, 1435–1439.
- Salem, N. A., Mahnke, A. H., Wells, A. B., Tseng, A. M., Yevtushok, L., Zymak–Zakutnya, N., et al. (2020). Association between fetal sex and maternal plasma microRNA responses to prenatal alcohol exposure: Evidence from a birth outcome-stratified cohort. Biology of Sex Differences, 11(1), 1–17.
- Salmon, J. (2008). Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: New Zealand birth mothers' experiences. Journal of Population Therapeutics and Clinical Pharmacology, 15(2).
- Sambo, D., & Goldman, D. (2023). Genetic influences on fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. Genes (Basel), 14(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/genes14010195.
- Simon, V., Czobor, P., Bálint, S., Mészáros, A., & Bitter, I. (2009). Prevalence and correlates of adult attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: Meta-analysis. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 194(3), 204–211. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.107.048827.
- Spencer, S. J., & Fullerton, S. M. (2022). Population genomic screening: Ethical considerations to guide age at implementation. Frontiers in Genetics, 13, 899648. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2022.899648.
- Spohr, H.-L., & Steinhausen, H.-C. (2008). Fetal alcohol spectrum disorders and their persisting sequelae in adult life. *Deutsches Ärzteblatt International*, 105, 693–698. https://doi.org/10.3238/arztebl.2008.0693.
- Stevens, S. A., Nash, K., Koren, G., & Rovet, J. (2013). Autism characteristics in children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. *Child Neuropsychology*, 19(6), 579–587. https://doi. org/10.1080/09297049.2012.727791.
- Stratton, K., Howe, C., & Battaglia, F. C. (1996). Fetal alcohol syndrome: Diagnosis, epidemiology, prevention, and treatment. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Streissguth, A. P., Bookstein, F., Barr, H., Sampson, P., O'Malley, K., & Young, J. (2004).
 Risk factors for adverse life outcomes in fetal alcohol syndrome and fetal alcohol effects.
 Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics, 25, 228–238.
- Streissguth, A. P., & O'Malley, K. (2000). Neuropsychiatric implications and long-term consequences of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Seminars in Clinical Neuropsychiatry, 5(3), 177–190. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/11291013.
- Tseng, P.-H., Cameron, I. G. M., Pari, G., Reynolds, J. N., Munoz, D. P., & Itti, L. (2013). High-throughput classification of clinical populations from natural viewing eye movements. *Journal of Neurology*, 260, 275–284.
- Tseng, A. M., Mahnke, A. H., Wells, A. B., Salem, N. A., Allan, A. M., Roberts, V. H., et al. (2019). Maternal circulating miRNAs that predict infant FASD outcomes influence placental maturation. *Life Science Alliance*, 2(2).

- Uban, K. A., Comeau, W. L., Bodnar, T., Yu, W. K., Weinberg, J., & Galea, L. A. (2015). Amphetamine sensitization and cross-sensitization with acute restraint stress: Impact of prenatal alcohol exposure in male and female rats. *Psychopharmacology*, 232(10), 1705–1716. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-014-3804-y.
- Ungerer, M., Knezovich, J., & Ramsay, M. (2013). In utero alcohol exposure, epigenetic changes, and their consequences. *Alcohol Research: Current Reviews*, 35, 37–46.
- Wang, L.-L., Zhang, Z., Li, Q., Yang, R., Pei, X., Xu, Y., et al. (2009). Ethanol exposure induces differential microRNA and target gene expression and teratogenic effects which can be suppressed by folic acid supplementation. In Vol. 24. Human reproduction (pp. 562–579). England: Oxford.
- Weyrauch, D., Schwartz, M., Hart, B., Klug, M. G., & Burd, L. (2017). Comorbid mental disorders in fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: A systematic review. *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, 38, 283–291.
- Williams, J. F., Smith, V. C., & Committee on Substance Abuse. (2015). Fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. *Pediatrics*, 136(5).
- World Health Organization, & International Programme on Chemical Safety. (1993). Biomarkers and risk assessment: Concepts and principles/published under the joint sponsorship of the United Nations environment Programme, the International Labour Organisation, and the World Health Organization. Geneva: World Health Organization.